IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

INTRODUCTION

The Florida Bar, Complainant, will be referred to as the "the Bar" or "The Florida Bar". Herman T. Isis, Respondent, will be referred to as the "Respondent". The symbol "TR" will be used to designate the transcript of the final hearing which was held on November 14, 1988. All emphasis has been added.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On June 24, 1988, The Florida Bar filed its complaint charging Respondent with conduct which arose from his felony conviction. Respondent pled no contest to conspiracy to commit an organized fraud in violation of Florida Statute 817.036 and unlawful use of boiler rooms in violation of Florida Statute 517.312. Respondent was sentenced to serve eighteen months incarceration on these charges.

A final hearing was held before the Honorable Radford R. Sturgis, Referee on November 14, 1988. The Bar introduced the judgment and sentence as evidence. (TR 11, 12) Respondent testified on his own behalf. (TR 13 - 56) He then presented three witnesses. (TR 56-70, 71-81; 81-84)

Subsequent to the final hearing, the Referee issued a Report finding Respondent guilty of all violations charged and recommending that as minimum Respondent should be suspended for a maximum period of three years and at a maximum, that he be disbarred for five years.

The Bar filed its Petition for Review on February 13, 1989 pursuant to direction from the Board of Governors. The Respondent's Cross Petition for Review was received on February 14, 1989. This brief follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent was found guilty of conspiracy to commit organized fraud and unlawful use of boiler rooms. The Bar sought to disbar Respondent. The Referee disagreed and recommended that as a minimum Respondent be suspended for three years and at a maximum, that he be disbarred for five years.

It is the Bar's contention that this felony conviction was particularly egregious because Respondent utilized his talents as an attorney and knowingly participated in schemes to defraud the public. Additionally, there were several aggravating circumstances. Thus, disbarment is the appropriate discipline.

POINTS ON APPEAL

POINT I

WHETHER THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION IS CONTEMPLATED BY THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR AND SHOULD BE MODIFIED TO REFLECT THE IMPOSITION OF A DEFINITE PERIOD OF DISCIPLINE?

POINT II

WHETHER THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND DISCIPLINARY VIOLATIONS COMMITTED MANDATES DISBARMENT?

ARGUMENT

I

THE REFERE'S RECOMMENDATION OF DISCIPLINE IS NOT CONTEMPLATED BY THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR AND SHOULD BE MODIFIED TO REFLECT THE IMPOSITION OF A DEFINITE PERIOD OF DISCIPLINE

The Referee made a recommendation that as a minimum Respondent should be suspended for a maximum period of three years and at a maximum, that he be disbarred for five years.

I recommend that disbarment or suspension from the practice of law be effective August 15, 1987 (stipulated, page 118, line 4 transcript) as the date Mr. Isis closed his law practice. The date of conviction was July 29, 1987 and the date of interim suspension was October 30, 1987.

Report of Referee, Page 5

This Honorable Court was confronted with a similar situation in <u>The Florida Bar v. Byron</u>, **424** So.2d **748** (Fla. **1982).** There, the Referee initially recommended that the Respondent be suspended indefinitely. The Bar filed a Motion for Clarification arguing that article XI, Rule **11.10(4)** of the Integration Rule requires that suspensions be for a time certain. The Referee responded that "Respondent should be suspended for three years or until proof of rehabilitation.... is shown". <u>Byron</u>, at **749.** Thus, even after a request for clarification, the discipline remained indefinite. This Court stated the following:

We agree that the Referee must recommend a definite term of suspension.

Byron, supra.

In the case \underline{sub} \underline{judice} the Referee's finding was also indefinite.¹

Additionally, Rule 3-7.5(k) of the Rules of Discipline provide that the Report of Referee <u>shall</u> include the "recommendation as to the disciplinary measures to be applied..." It does not appear that the Rule contemplates a range for discipline.

It has been held repeatedly that a Referee's findings of fact are presumed correct and should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker, 485 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1986). Therefore, it is the Florida Bar's contention that the Referee's findings of fact and commission of ethical violations are correct. In light of the lack of definite discipline, this Honorable Court must act in the stead of the Referee, and impose discipline.

^{&#}x27;Although this matter is procedurally under the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, effective January 1, 1987, the Rule has remained substantially unchanged. see Rule 3-5,1(e) Rules of Discipline.

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND DISCIPLINARY VIOLATIONS COMMITTED MANDATES DISBARMENT

The Respondent pled no contest to two counts of a multicount indictment which alleged his involvement in the unlawfuluse of boiler rooms. Those counts are partially delineated below.

Count 4

- 1. On or about January 1985 and continuing through October 1986 Herman T. Isis, and others established a series of 'boiler rooms', primarily in Broward County, Florida, for the purpose of selling fraudulant [sic] 'investments' to residence [sic] of Florida and other States.
- 2. On or about August 1984 and continuing through October 1986 Herman T. Isis, and others created sales literature and a telephone sales script to carry out said fraudulent plan.
- 3. On or about January 1985 and continuing through October 1986 Herman T. Isis, and another assisted in the organization plan of the enterprise, creation of the investment documents and conducing [sic] of the initial organizational meeting for each group of investors.
- 4. On or about January 1985 and continuing through October 1986 Herman T. Isis, and others or their representatives met together from time to time to organize and coordinate the sale of fraudulant [sic] and essentially worthless "investments" in the names Wilson and Plummer, Pennington and Scott, Heritage Company, Frontier Enterprises, William and Associates, Landmark Associates, Associates, Masters and Sinclair, Sinclair, McKenzie, Masters, and Purveyors, Miller and McKenzie, McKenzie, Pederson, and Tanner.

5. On or about January 1985 and continuing through October 1986 Herman T. Isis, and others established agreements with oil and gas operators to drill low-costs wells in oil-producing States but without regard to actual production from those wells.

Count 210

1. about January 1985 and continuing On or through October 1986 in or from Broward County, Florida, Herman T. Isis, and others did directly or indirectly manage, supervise, control, or own either alone or association with others, one or more "boiler rooms" to wit: an enterprise in which two or in persons engaged communication with members of the public using two or more telephones at one location in a common scheme or enterprise, which sold or offered for sale a security or investment through fraud, falsification, or concealment facts, contrary to Florida Statutes 517.312 (1)(b). F.S. 513.312(1)(a), 777.011, and F.S. 517.302.

Although the Referee found Respondent guilty of all ethical violations charged, the discipline imposed is unclear. The Bar asserts that the adjudication of guilt of this particular crime, together with all aggravating circumstances warrants disbarment.

Respondent was adjudicated guilty of crimes wherein he conspired and participated in the unlawful creation and operation of boiler rooms. Many cases involving participation in fraudulent schemes and felony adjudications have resulted in

The full text of the information is attached as Exhibit 1 to The Florida Bar's complaint.

disbarment for errant attorneys. In The Florida Bar v. Weinsoff, 498 So.2d 942 (Fla. 1986) that Respondent was adjudged quilty of conspiracy to commit mail fraud and was disbarred. In The Florida Bar v. Haimowitz, 512 So.2d 200 (Fla. 1987) this Court held that conspiracy to use the postal service to execute a scheme to defraud, obtaining property by false and fraudulent pretenses and conspiracy to obstruct interstate commerce by extortion and mail fraud warrants disbarment. The Florida Bar v. 521 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 1988) imposed a twenty year disbarment where Respondent's acts constituted theft and were in furtherance of an attempt to defraud an insurance company. 3

Moreover, after reviewing the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, the Referee found the existence of several aggravating circumstances. It was found that the Respondent's three month suspension in 1959 for having introduced an altered document in a court proceeding, although remote in time, was aggravating. Section 9.22(a), Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

The Florida Bar v. Diamond, Case No. 71,347 and 72,258 is currently pending before this Court. That case is similar, only in terms of the type of activity engaged in by the Respondents; In Diamond, supra the Respondent was the President and attorney of an organization which utilized "boiler rooms" in furtherance of its scheme to defraud. The Florida Bar is appealing the Referee's recommendation in Diamond, supra that a three year suspension be imposed. Briefs have been filed recently.

It is interesting to note that Respondent believed he was deserving of some special consideration since he did not deny his misdeed thirty years earlier.

THE REFEREE: What really concerns me about the prior is that it touches upon a question of integrity. And albeit you can make a mistake, never make that mistake again. It at least shows--

MR. ISIS: I could have compounded that mistake and you wouldn't know about that. I could have denied it.

THE REFEREE: Maybe, maybe not. Maybe you would have been found out.

At any rate, I don't see that I can consider that you have a mitigating factor.

MR. ISIS: I just wanted you to know I could have denied it and then the Referee was a lawyer and who is he going to believe on the \$350 check? It wasn't a big deal.

(TR 104-105)

This Court has consistently held that the presence of a previous disciplinary history increases discipline. <u>The Florida Bar v. Bern</u>, 425 So.2d **526** (Fla. **1983);** <u>The Florida Bar v. Katz</u>, 491 So.2d 1101 (Fla. **1986).**

The Referee also found that the fact that the Respondent pled no contest to multiple offenses constitutes an aggravating factor pursuant to the standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Section 9.22(d), Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

Respondent's substantial experience in the particular area of law covered by the criminal charges was enumerated as another

aggravating circumstance. Section 9.22(i), Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. The Referee elaborated on that finding by stating:

[M]r. Isis, throughout his career, has practiced close to the line and certainly should have known he was participating in a fraudulent and criminal activity. Mr. Isis at no time mitigated his involvement by renouncing his connection to the fraudulent activity, ceasing to practice law for them, or offering to cooperate with the authorities to uncover the details of the conspiracy. The Florida Bar v. Pettie, 424 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1983).

Report of Referee, Pages 4-5

In a similar vein, the Referee found Respondent's use of his professional license and legal skills to violate the law as aggravating. The Matter of Goldberg, 520 A.2d 1147 (N.J. 1987).

In mitigation, the Referee found that Respondent had a cooperative attitude. Section 9.32(k) Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, and the fact that Respondent served 77 days of an 18 month jail term to be of minimal value as a mitigating circumstance.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Mims</u>, 501 So.2d 596 (Fla. 1987) the Referee found the Respondent guilty of several violations and imposed a three year suspension. This Court, however, increased the discipline to disbarment after recognizing the existence of several aggravating circumstances and only one mitigating factor.

In light of the serious nature of the felony conviction and the attendant circumstances, this Court's words of wisdom in The Florida Bar v. Wilson, 425 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1983) are applicable.

[M]ere suspension would not be just to the public. In the case of a conviction of two felonies, the ultimate penalty, disbarment, should be imposed to insure that an attorney convicted of engaging in illegal conduct involving moral turpitude, who has violated flagrantly breached oath and confidence reposed in him as an officer of the court, can no longer enjoy the privilege of being a member of the bar. A suspension, with continued membership in the bar, albeit without the privilege of practicing, is susceptible of being viewed by the public as a slap on the wrist when the gravity of the offense calls out for a more discipline.

Wilson, at 2.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority, The Florida Bar respectfully submits that the Referee erroneously imposed an indefinite term of discipline, and would urge this court to disbar the Respondent.

RANDI KLAYMAN LAZARU

Bar Counsel
TFB #360929
The Florida Bar
Suite 211, Rivergate Plaza
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director TFB #033748 The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel TFB #217395 The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286