FILED 1 cmg

MAR 29 1989

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Cases Nos. 71,185, 72,644

Complainant,

V.

HERMAN T. ISIS,

Respondent.

# ANSWER BRIEF

Herman T. Isis, Pro Se P. O. Box 144567 Coral Gables, Fla. 33114 (305) 445-5475

#

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

### ARGUMENT

The Florida Bar, in instituting this disciplinary proceeding asserts arguments heretofore made by it before this court — that this Court should adopt an automatic disbarment rule whenever an attorney is convicted of a felony. The Court rejected that thesis with its announcement that it will continue to view each case solely on the merits presented therein. The Florida Bar V. Jahn, 509 So.2d 285,286(Fla. 1987). Discipline should be fair to both the public and the attorney. The Florida Bar V. MacKenzie, 319 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1975). This court stated that discipline for unethical conduct by a member of the Florida Bar must serve three purposes:

First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing a penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair

to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations. The Florida Bar v. Pahules, 233 So. 2d 130,132 (Fla. 1970); cited in The Florida Bar v. Greene, 515 So.2d 1280 (Fla. 1987), and The Florida Bar v. Harper, 518 So.2d 262, (Fla. 1988).

In a referee trial of a prosecution for professional misconduct, the Bar has the burden of proving its accusations by clear and convincing evidence. The Florida Bar v. Rayman, 238 So.2d 594, (Fla. 1970). Respondent suggests that such proof is not evident and the absence of such proof was obvious to the referee at the conclusion of the hearing. Respondent has heretofore noted in the Statement of the Facts certain portions of the transcript which also appear in the Appendix to this Brief which affirmatively show that the referee knew nothing more about Respondent's conviction at the end of the hearing than he knew at the commencement thereof. It is therefore difficult to understand why the referee would recommend the alternate sanctions.

The Respondent relied upon this court's decision in <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Pavlick</u>, 504 So.2d 1231 (Fla. 1987) in the preparation of his defense to the Complaint filed by the Bar. Pavlick was suspended for two years after entering an "Alford" plea of guilty to accessory after the fact to a misprison of a felony.

He was sentenced to one year in prison, with parole after serving one-third of his sentence. The Bar initiated disbarment proceedings. Pavlick testified at length to the circumstances which led to the "Alford" plea. He professed innocence and was permitted by the referee to introduce the results of a polygraph exam to reinforce his testimony. He accounted for his "Alford" plea because of family and personal pressures and the risk of greater punishment if he were to be found guilty after a trial. The referee believed Mr. Pavlick and recommended suspension for a period of two years with automatic reinstatement. The Court in overruling the Bar's objection that Pavlick was retrying the offense for which he was convicted stated that the proof of conviction and an adjudication of quilt are sufficient to establish a prima facie case for disciplinary action. Due process, however, requires that the accused lawyer shall be given full opportunity to explain the circumstances and otherwise offer testimony in excuse or mitigation of the penalty; citing State ex rel. Florida Bar v. Evans, 94 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1957). In Pavlick, the Bar also appealed the denial by the referee of the Bar's motion to delay the conclusion of the hearing so it could garner witnesses to rebut the statements of Pavlick.

There is similarity between the <u>Pavlick</u> case and the case at bar. The Respondent herein disclaims any guilt whatsoever. This was disclosed fully in his Answer to the Complaint (a.23-32,inc.); the uncontroverted testimony of Respondent that he was not a coconspirator, didn't make any money except his fees.(a. 13).

Respondent investigated his client's business to attempt to become assured that his clients' were conducting an honest operation. This was done by his journeying to Oklahoma to interrogate his client's attorney there, a man who was in a position to know the results of the well drilling operations (a.6&7). He also testified that his feelings about the legitimacy of the operation were reinforced since although each investor knew of him, not one ever registered a complaint to Respondent. (a. 13).

Respondent explained that he was named in the information at the insistence of the Department of Banking and Finance who had their lead attorney appointed as Special Assistant State Attorney to prosecute Respondent.(a.10)(tr.p32,L22). The testimony and the Answer to the Complaint describe reasons why employees of the Department of Banking and Finance would want to have the Respondent criminally sanctioned. He frustrated the Department's every effort to regulate the business activities of his client as a security. He invited legal action to test the security theory, and in fact on one occasion, when the Department attempted to regulate another similar activity as a security, the Third District responded in favor of Respondent's client. Yeomans v. State Department of Banking and Finance, supra.

Respondent then presented testimony of why he plead no contest. His reasons were similar to those of Pavlick.

The Information came as a complete surprise to Respondent. (a. 9),(tr.26,L.27) and to his family, which is best stated by Lillian Isis, his wife:

(a. 15), (tr.82,L.19) "The fear that when all this started was so overwhelming that just out of the clear blue one day you hear, and the panic that sets in is--unless a person has been there, I don't think anybody could possibly understand it."

The purpose of the plea was to try to get back into a life as soon as we could. (a.15).

Respondent's knowledge of his health and of his wife's health resulted in a fear for self survival if he subjected himself to a trial. (tr.p.29, L.25,); (tr.p.30, L.5,11); (tr.p31,L.3).

Respondent too late woke up to the fact that if he were a target of the investigation by the Sheriff and the State's Attorney's office, he would have been approached by the dectective investigating the case and given the opportunity to answer questions. This did not occur.(tr. p.28,L.3) (a.11). Also the later revelation to him of an innocuous report made by an investigator for the Department of Banking and Finance caused him to realize that his involvement in the information was a bright bluff more apt to a poker game but designed to ruin the life of a law abiding attorney. (tr.p.32, L22), (a.10,11).

The Referee made no findings or comments respecting Respondent's explanation of his plea. He made four Findings, "IV FINDINGS", (rr. p. 2)

The referee commented that the charging documents (the Information)

"If you read through the charging documents I think it basically furnishes very little information about his specific involvement." (tr.p.8, L. 24)(a.3).

The report is then basically a blanket recommendation of sanctions none of which are supported by the record. Since the testimony of Respondent was not rebutted by the Bar who has the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that Respondent is a "bad lawyer" who should be disbarred, then the Respondent should have been found to have prevailed in this proceeding. The Complaint should not have been filed. The automatic suspension under which Respondent is currently prevented from earning his living from the practice of law should have been recognized as the proper sanction. The referee made no findings on the evidence in his report. Par. #14, (a. 20) the referee poses the question of Respondent's complicity in a conspiracy:

"If Mr. Isis substantially and knowingly participated in the conspiracy he should be disbarred. If he had a minor role and only constructive knowledge of the fraud, I feel he should be suspended for the maximum three year period and be required to demonstrate proof of rehabilitation. The referee identified this concern over the extent of Mr. Isis' knowledge and participation before the testimony began (page 5, lines 11-25, transcript). The Bar introduced Mr. Isis' convictions, prior misconduct and the charging documents (informations). The referee ordered and included in the record a transcript of Mr. Isis' no contest plea and factual basis for the pleas. The Bar cross-examined Mr. Isis, but offered no additional evidence. In <u>State ex rel.The Florida Bar v.</u> Bass 106 So.2d 77 (Fla. 1958) the referee and Supreme Court faced a similar dilemma regarding state of mind. The court stated at page 78:

"It goes without saying that the power to disbar or suspend a member of the legal profession is not an arbitrary one to be exercised lightly, or with either passion or prejudice. Such power should be exercised only in a clear case for weighty reason and on clear proof."

The Respondent adopts <u>Bass</u> as a case supporting his position.

In paragraph #15, (a. 20), the referee's report states:

"I find that The Bar has not presented "clear proof" that Mr. Isis should be disbarred based upon his pleas alone."

What then can be the basis to support either of the referee's recommendations. The referee's review of Florida's Standard for Imposing Sanctions must now be examined in light of the evidence and the comments of the referee made at the hearing at a time after all the evidence was concluded.

# Par. # 17 (rr 4) (a.21):

"Prior Disciplinary Offense (aggravating) (m) Remoteness of Prior offense (mitigating). In State v. Isis, Fla. 223 So.2d 227 (1959) a three month suspension was imposed for intoducing an altered document in a court proceeding (page 51 lines 14-21 transcript). This is a serious disciplinary offense and should be considered as an aggravating circumstance; however, it was very remote in time."

The report cites a prior offense which occurred more than thirty years ago, although the sanction was imposed two years after the incident. In The Florida Bar v. Hooper, 509 So.2d 289, (Fla. 1987), the attorney who was already under suspension imposed in The Florida Bar v. Hooper, 507 So.2d 1078 (Fla. 1987), had abandoned his client because of a fee dispute and then filed an illegal mechanic's lien against the client's property. The court suspended Hooper for one year to run concurrent with the suspension previously imposed.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Greene</u>, supra, the attorney had been sanctioned four times prior to the hearing then under consideration. The referee recommended a public reprimand. The Court suspended him for 91 days in addition to a two year probation period. The court stated: "...this Court deals more severely with cumulative misconduct than with isolated misconduct." It appears to respondent that a lapse of professional conduct occurring more than thirty years ago should be classified as isolated misconduct.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Thomson</u>, 500 So.2d 1335, (Fla. 1986), the attorney who had pled no contest to four charges including drug felonies, the court sustained the referee's recommendation of a ninety-one day suspension. In doing so, the Court repeated its oft cited standards of attorney discipline:

"[W]hile we agree that 'the discipline should be fair to both the public and the attorney, with an object of correcting 'the wayward tendency in the accused lawyer while offering to him a fair and reasonable opportunity for rehabilitation' '"The Florida Bar v. MacKenzie, supra; State ex rel The Florida Bar v. Ruskin, 126 So. 2d 142,144 (Fla. 1961).

Louis Vernell had a history of sanctions, having been disciplined by this Court on three prior occasions in 1964, 1974, (reprimands) and a six month suspension in 1979. But in <u>The Florida Bar v. Vernell</u>, 502 So.2d 1228, (Fla. 1987) wherein Vernell had been found to have cheated his client of \$ 100,000 in a case where as a referring attorney, he had already been paid a fee of \$ 200,000, the Court suspended Vernell for a period of 91 days, thus requiring proof of rehabilitation.

Finally, on this point, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Blum</u>, 515 So.2d 194, the attorney had failed to disclose a serious violation of the standards of ethics for which he was sanctioned in New York. He was suspended for three years for committing serious defalcations involving his clients.

Par.18(rr) (a.21):

"(b,c,d) <u>Dishonest</u> or <u>Selfish Motive</u>; a <u>Pattern</u> of <u>Misconduct</u>; <u>Multiple Offenses</u>. Mr. Isis pled no contest to multiple (two out of six) charges filed in a 210 count information. The Bar offered only the information and judgments of conviction as proof. Mr. Isis maintained his innocence and responded to these matters on the following pages of the transcript:"(references are omitted)

This standard as applied by the referee presents no basis for the imposition of sanctions.

Par. 19(rr) (a. 21):

"Mr. Isis' state of mind has been inferred from his plea but has not been established by any direct factual evidence; thus, I find only the no contest plea to multiple offenses clearly proven as an aggravating circumstance."

The referee's interpretation of this standard is inconsistent with the evidence. Testimony already discussed hereinabove was direct factual evidence. (See(a. 9,10,15),(tr.p.29,39,31and 82). The testimony is inserted herein to facilitate the Court's examination:

(tr.,p.29, L.25) "I didn't defend the case because I knew my own physical condition."

(tr.,p.30, L.5) " My teeth were falling out. I got prostate problems. I had ulcers. and I was just in bad

shape."

(tr.,p.30, L.11) "Lillian had problems of her own. She was an alcoholic. I knew it and she also had a bad back. Two discs removed. She is a nervous person. Any time she gets under tension, she is on a heating pad. Thank God, she went through two treatment programs in the alcoholism and she is recovering, but if we had to go through a trial, I think maybe she may have gone back to it again. That was a fear."

Certainly no aggravating circumstance can be inferred from that testimony. The Bar has the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence such aggrevating circumstances. Rayman, supra. Yet the referee noted (tr. p. 86) (a.16),

(to Mrs. Lazarus) "You understand an Information is simply a finding of probable cause by a prosecuting attorney. It cannot even be considered by a jury as any evidence to show guilt."

and (tr.p.91,L.2)

"Mr. Isis, you are the one with the presumption in your favor."

Most importantly, the referee concludes (tr. p 103, L.14)

"To what extent Mr. Isis participated in that and the length of use of his legal profession, that is, a lawyer to the bringing that about is something I know as much about now as I did when I came here. And unfortuanately, without retrying the case, it would be very difficult. Sort of like looking at a meal but not being above to taste it.

So the potential implications of the conduct on Mr. Isis are serious. Whether or not they

actually were, I don't know."

Par. 20.(rr),(a.21):

"(g,j) Refusal to acknowledae wronaful nature of conduct. Indifference to making restitution. Mr. Isis was fined but was not ordered to make restitution. He entered a no contest plea and has maintained his innocence, thus understandably has not offered to make restitution. These factors have not been clearly proven."

The referee's interpretation of this standard acknowledges that no factors have been clearly proven.

Par. 21,(rr) (a.21):

"(i) <u>Substantial experience in the practice of law</u>. Mr. Isis began practicing law in 1953 at the age of 30. (page 13, line 14, 15, transcript.) Mr. Isis has had substantial experience in the area of the law covered by this criminal charges. He knew or should have known that his legal skills and professionsl license were being used to defraud the public. He has violated his fundamental duty as a lawyer toward the public, by failing to maintain the standards of personal integrity upon which the community relies. I find this to be an aggravating circumstance."

There is no evidence to support this interpretation of the standard. The evidence supports respondent's position to the effect that he was innocent. He testified to the fact that he investigated the results of his client's undertakings; (tr. p.24, L. 14), (a.6,7) by interrogating his client's Oklahoma lawyer, a man in a position to have all of the facts concerning petroleum production. Also, his belief that the business was legitimate was reinforced by the failure to receive any complaints from the investors. (tr. p49, L.19)(a. 13). Also, the fact that his arrest

came as a surprise reinforces the fact that he was engaged in a legitimate legal activity and performing ethically for his clients as required under <u>The Rules of Professional Conduct</u>.

Par. 22,(rr) (a. 21):

"(c) <u>Personal or emotional problems</u>. Mr. Isis, Mrs. Isis and friend Norman Madan offered testimony relating to Mr. Isis' physical condition and personal problems (pages 29-34, 72-81 transcript), and Mr. Isis gave testimony as to why he pled no contest rather than to go trial on the charges. Bar counsel aptly points out that this mitigating circumstance may refer only to circumstances surrounding the commission of the underlying offenses. If so, then this mitigating circumstance was not established by Mr. Isis.

The referee's interpretation of this standard does not comport to the edicts of this court pronounced in <a href="Pavlick">Pavlick</a>, supra and <a href="Evans">Evans</a>, supra:

"[D]ue process, however, requires that the accused lawyer shall be given full opportunity to explain the circumstances and otherwise offer testimony in excuse or in mitigation of the penalty."

This standard, then, was not understood by the referee when the report states in error:

"Bar counsel aptly points out that this mitigating circumstance may refer only to circumstances surrounding the commission of the underlying offenses."

Par. 24(rr) (a. 21):

"(k) Imposition of other penalties or sanctions. Mr. Isis served 77 days on an 18 month jail term and is currently serving a 5 year probationary period. He was fined \$10,000. One would expect to receive punishment for a no contest plea to these criminal charges: however, the sentence imposed is not unduly burdensome and thus I find the penalty actually served to be of minimal value as a mitigating circumstance."

It is difficult for a completely healthy person to evaluate the punishment endured by a man, 64 years old at that time, and not in the best health, unable to eat prison food nor to sleep on steel bunks nor to relax. Also, after enjoying a lifetime of good reputation rebuilt after a 1959 suspension, the shame to be endured for probably the remainder of his life is punishment in and of itself. Respondent seriously disagrees with the referee on this point and feels that he may have been misled by Respondent's youthful appearance.

Par. 25,(rr) (a.21):

"Lastly, Mr. Isis, throughout his career, has practice close to the line and certainly should have known he was participating in a fraudulent and criminal activity. Mr. Isis at no time mitigated his involvement by renouncing his connection to the fraudulent activity, ceasing to practice law for them, or offering to cooperate with the authorities to uncover the details of the conspiracy. The Florida Bar v. Pettie, 424 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1983).

The referee's interpretation of this standard is a completely unfair and unwarranted conclusion in that there is no violation recognized; only the conclusion of the referee. If Respondent is unaware of criminal activities, how can he assist in the investigation of such activities. No one asked him. If the Sheriff investigating the matter had approached Respondent, the whole matter might have had a different ending, but that didn't happen. Pettie is inapplicable to this case.

<u>Chapter 4, Rules of Professional Conduct Preamble: A</u>
<u>Lawver's Responsibilities.</u> The Florida Bar Journal, September 1988, page 63

"As an advocate, a lawyer zealously asserts the

client's position under the rules of the adversary system."

"While it is a lawyer's duty, when necessary, to challenge the rectitude of official action, it is also a lawyer's duty to uphold legal process."

"Zealous advocacy is not inconsistent with justice..

Toward the end of the hearing, Respondent heard the terms "close to the line" and "warning track lawyer". This can only be considered as the referee's reaction to Respondent's description of his encounters with state administrative agencies. These statements already appearing on pages 5 and 6 of this Brief are repeated:

"It does sound to me, Mr. Isis, though, that you are walking awfully close to the line as to the practice of law..."

"Q. You can appreciate on the one hand the freedom of the individual to be free of regulations, and on the other hand that the unwary and sometimes even the aware need to be protected from high pressure sales in certain areas." (a.14), (tr. p.64, L.9).

"..based on his attitude toward some of these regulatory boards, it would be very easy for him to transmit that hostility toward the Florida Bar if that were his nature and I don't see that here. (tr.,p.107), (a. 17).

(Addressing Respondent) I recognize an appreciation of the difficulty of fighting against a state agency, especially where you are a worthy opponent, but I also note that you are not a warning track lawyer. A warning track lawyer, like a baseball player, starts slowing down when he gets on the warning track so he doesn't run into the wall.

Occasionally, you have buttedyourheadagainst the wall and even looked for some cracks in

between the boards." (tr. p.125, L11) (a.17).

Respondent has asked himself, is it wrong to disagree with an administrative employee's concept of legal language when there are no cases published to give one guidance? Is it proper for a lawyer to interpret a statute or rule as he sees it? Is it improper for a lawyer who in advocating his client's position before an administrative agency which disagrees with his position, to suggest that the agency institute legal action for a judicial determination of the contested ruling?

It is apparent that the referee felt that the incidents described in Respondent's Answer, (a. 23). his testimony (tr. p.13, L. 15) (a. 3) and Respondent's remark that he "became known as an adaptive lawyer and had quite a following was interpreted by the referee as "line walking." It is apparent that no regard was given to Respondent's statement that his clients were kept on a legal path. (a. 5). It is apparent that the referee was most impressed with respondent's dialogue describing the interaction with the Department of Banking and Finance regarding whether a general partnership was a security under Florida law with the suggestion for the Department to "...bring your injunction suit and let's have a court determine whether there is a security involved" (tr. p.21, L. 25, continuing to p. 22), (a.5). This impression was reinforced when respondent described how an investigator from the Department of Banking and Finance was ousted from a private meeting at the Miami Airport Hilton Hotel. (tr. 26, L. 18 continuing to p. 27).

If a lawyer is to practice in fear that his honest disagreement with the agency is going to result in his being disliked to the point where the agency is "out to stop you..." (tr.58 & 59, L.21) for reason that as stated by witness Michael M. Tobin, a lawyer:

"[T]he teeth that they had and the ability that they had to control the sale of land was very inadequate. And they thought that they were having an unequal battle in any dealing that they had with you as one of the experts in the field."

then how can he honestly comply with the Rules of Professional Conduct?

The Respondent has asked that if the Court imposes any sanctions, that it should be for a three year period to run concurrent with the suspension already in effect. In the event that Respondent's civil rights are restored at an earlier time, he would want to be able to apply for reinstatement. Respondent has adequately demonstrated that no rehabilitation is required of him to resume the practice of law.

### CONCLUSION

The Florida Bar's Miami Office is a very busy office. These proceedings were commenced by a letter inviting the respondent to resign from the Bar without leave to reapply for admission. The Bar had even gone to the effort of preparing a full set of

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